No. 45432-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**Christopher Smith,**

Appellant.

---

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00431-2

The Honorable Judge Stephen Warning

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund  
Manek R. Mistry  
Skylar T. Brett  
Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY**  
P.O. Box 6490  
Olympia, WA 98507  
(360) 339-4870  
backlundmistry@gmail.com

**

## **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Mr. Smith's failure to register conviction violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to substantive due process.
2. The registration statute is invalid on its face because it is not narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling state interest.
3. The registration statute is invalid on its face because there is no "evidentiary nexus" between its method and results.
4. The registration statute is invalid on its face and as applied to Mr. Smith because it is imprecise and fails to consider "plainly relevant considerations."

**ISSUE 1:** A statute is facially invalid if it impedes a fundamental right without being narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest. Washington's Failure to Register statute burdens the fundamental rights to travel and to freedom of movement, but treats dangerous and non-dangerous offenders alike and lacks an "evidentiary nexus" between its method and results. Does the Failure to Register statute violate the substantive component of the Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?

**ISSUE 2:** A statute is unconstitutionally overbroad as applied if it burdens a person's fundamental rights without being narrowly tailored under the facts of the case. Here, Mr. Smith was convicted of failure to register as a sex offender despite the fact that he is neither dangerous nor at risk of reoffending. Does the failure to register statute violate the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to due process as applied to Mr. Smith?

5. Mr. Smith's failure to register conviction violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because it was based on insufficient evidence.
6. The state failed to prove that Mr. Smith moved away from his registered address on Rose Place.

7. The state failed to prove that Mr. Smith asked to have his registered address changed from the Rose Place address to a residence on 9<sup>th</sup> Ave.
8. The state failed to prove that the letter purporting to request a change of registration address was sufficient to legally effectuate such a change.

**ISSUE 3:** A conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence if, taking the evidence in the light most positive to the state, no rational trier of fact could have found all of the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. Here, there was no evidence that Mr. Smith sent the letter which purported to change his registration address, or that the letter had been sent in compliance with the statute. Did the court violate Mr. Smith's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by entering a conviction for failure to register?

**ISSUE 4:** Failure to register requires proof of relocation combined with proof that the accused person did not notify the county sheriff of the change of address. Here, no one testified that Mr. Smith lived at the "new" address, and no one testified that he had vacated his "old" address. Was the evidence insufficient to prove that Mr. Smith failed to comply with the registration statute?



## **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Christopher Smith was convicted of third-degree child molestation when he was eighteen years old. Ex. 1. The conviction was based on consensual sexual contact with a fourteen-year-old. RP 70. After his six-month sentence, Mr. Smith registered as a sex offender with the Cowlitz County Sheriff's office. Ex. 1, 3; RP 17-18. He later returned to the sheriff's office to update his registered address. The new address was on Rose Place in Longview. RP 23-24; Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law (p. 1), Supp CP.

In 2011, the sheriff's office received a letter asking to change Mr. Smith's registered address from Rose Place to a house on 9<sup>th</sup> Ave. in Longview. Ex. 6; RP 25-26. As a result of the letter, the clerk at the office filled out a form changing Mr. Smith's registered address. RP 29. The clerk did not have personal or telephonic contact with Mr. Smith before changing the address of his registration. RP 29.

Olga Lozano, an investigator for the sheriff's department, visited the 9<sup>th</sup> Ave. address in early 2012. RP 33. The house was vacant. RP 34. Lozano did not go to the Rose Place address to see if Mr. Smith still lived there. RP 31-35.

The state charged Mr. Smith with failure to register as a sex offender. CP 3-4. Mr. Smith was tried by the court. RP 3; CP 2.

The letter purporting to change Mr. Smith's address was admitted into evidence. Ex. 6. The state did not introduce evidence establishing that the letter had been sent by certified mail, with return receipt requested. Ex 6; RP 12-29.

The property manager of the 9<sup>th</sup> Ave. address testified that no one lived at the home during the charging period. RP 42. He also testified that he had seen a man at that residence. RP 39-40. He did not name the man or identify Mr. Smith in court. RP 36-46. The property manager had called the phone number for the woman who rented the 9<sup>th</sup> avenue address. On some occasions, he spoke to a man on the phone. In his testimony, he did not say who the man was. RP 36-46.

At the conclusion of the evidence, the trial judge observed that the property manager had never formally identified Mr. Smith, and did not say that Mr. Smith was the person with whom he had spoken on the phone. RP 59. The court noted, however, that the witness looked at Mr. Smith during his testimony. RP 59.

The court found Mr. Smith guilty of failure to register as a sex offender. RP 61; Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law (p. 3), Supp CP. During sentencing, the judge said that he would like to sentence Mr. Smith

below the standard range, but had no legal mechanism for doing so. RP 88. The judge said that he did not think Mr. Smith was dangerous and that he was contributing to society by caring for several children. RP 87-88.

The court sentenced Mr. Smith to fourteen months followed by thirty-six months of community custody. CP 13. This timely appeal follows. CP 21.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE FAILURE TO REGISTER STATUTE VIOLATES DUE PROCESS BECAUSE IT BURDENS THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS TO TRAVEL AND TO FREEDOM OF MOVEMENT AND IS NOT NARROWLY TAILORED TO MEET A COMPELLING STATE INTEREST.**

#### A. Standard of Review.

Constitutional issues are reviewed *de novo*. *Dellen Wood Products, Inc. v. Washington State Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 43636 -1-II, 2014 WL 710682, --- Wn. App. ---, --- P.3d --- (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 25, 2014).

#### B. Due process guarantees the fundamental rights to travel and to freedom of movement.

The Fourteenth Amendment right to due process includes a substantive component. *Lawrence v. Texas*, 539 U.S. 558, 565, 123 S.Ct. 2472, 156 L.Ed.2d 508 (2003); *Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 65, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 147 L.Ed.2d 49 (2000). This component has “fundamental

significance in defining the rights of the person.” *Lawrence* 539 U.S. at 565. Substantive due process goes beyond mere procedural protections to actually limit the government’s ability to operate in certain realms. *Id.* at 578; *Troxel*, 530 U.S. at 65.

Due process guarantees the fundamental right to travel. *Aptheker v. Sec’y of State*, 378 U.S. 500, 505, 84 S.Ct. 1659, 12 L.Ed.2d 992 (1964); *Attorney Gen. of New York v. Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. 898, 901, 106 S.Ct. 2317, 90 L.Ed.2d 899 (1986); U.S. Const. Amends. V, XIV; Wash. Const art. I, § 3. The right to travel includes the right to travel within a state. *State v. Enquist*, 163 Wn. App. 41, 50, 256 P.3d 1277 (2011). The constitution also guarantees a fundamental right to freedom of movement. *State v. J.D.*, 86 Wn. App. 501, 506, 937 P.2d 630 (1997). That right is rooted in due process and the First Amendment freedom of association. *Id.*

A statute that burdens the fundamental rights to travel and to freedom of movement is subject to strict scrutiny. *Macias v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash.*, 100 Wn.2d 263, 273, 668 P.2d 1278, 1284 (1983); *J.D.*, 86 Wn. App. at 508. A state law implicates the right to travel if it indirectly burdens exercise of that right by creating “any classification which serves to penalize the exercise of the right.” *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 903 (internal citations omitted). A statute burdening a

fundamental right cannot survive strict scrutiny unless it is narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest. *Lawrence* 539 U.S. at 593; *J.D.*, 86 Wn. App. at 508.

C. The failure to register statute is unconstitutionally overbroad on its face.

The right to travel is one of the few rights so fundamental that statutes burdening it are subject to facial overbreadth challenges. *Sabri v. United States*, 541 U.S. 600, 610, 124 S.Ct. 1941, 158 L.Ed.2d 891 (2004) (citing *Aptheker* 378 U.S. 500).

Governmental intrusions into fundamental rights may not sweep unnecessarily broadly: “precision must be the touchstone of legislation affecting freedoms.” *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 508, 514 (internal citation omitted). A statute is not narrowly tailored if there are other reasonable ways to achieve the state’s purpose, which would place a lesser burden on constitutionally protected activity. *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 909-10.

The sex offender registration requirements place a burden on the fundamental rights to travel and to freedom of movement. The statute requires that a person with a fixed residence who is subject to the registration requirement must register the address at which s/he spends a

majority of the week.<sup>1</sup> RCW 9A.44.128(5) (defining “fixed residence” as the place where the person spends the majority of the week); RCW 9A.44.130(4). A registered sex offender with a fixed address cannot travel away from home for more than three nights. By leaving home for more than three days, the person would likely be at risk of criminal prosecution.<sup>2</sup> RCW 9A.44.132.

The purpose of the registration scheme “is to assist law enforcement agencies’ efforts to protect their communities against reoffense by convicted sex offenders.” *State v. Pray*, 96 Wn. App. 25, 28, 980 P.2d 240 (1999), *review denied*, 139 Wn.2d 1010 (1999). Assuming this is a compelling interest, the statute nonetheless violates substantive due process because it is not narrowly tailored to meet that aim. *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 508.

1. The failure to register statute is not narrowly tailored because it burdens fundamental rights without considering a person’s “relevant characteristics.”

---

<sup>1</sup> A person without a fixed residence must register as a transient and check in with the county sheriff once a week. RCW 9A.44.128(9); RCW 9A.44.130(5).

<sup>2</sup> It is unclear from the statute whether a person with a fixed address would be permitted to re-register temporarily at a place where s/he was staying while traveling. The statutory scheme does not anticipate re-registration unless the person has changed his/her fixed residence or come to lack a fixed residence. *See* RCW 9A.44.130(4)-(5). Even if temporary re-registration were permitted by the statute, the requirement would still place a burden on the rights to travel and to freedom of movement. Accordingly, the statute would need to be narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest.

Legislative discrimination affecting fundamental rights must be correlated to a person's "*relevant characteristics.*" *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 911 (italics in original). A statute is not narrowly tailored if it "excludes plainly relevant considerations" in its burden of a fundamental right. *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 514.

The failure to register statute is not narrowly tailored because it reaches people who are neither dangerous nor likely to reoffend. For example, the statutory scheme requires registration by people who have been convicted of nonviolent crimes. A high school junior who has *de minimis* consensual sexual contact with a freshman can be convicted of third-degree child molestation. RCW 9A.44.089. Such a person would be required to register as a sex offender and could be criminally prosecuted for failing to do so. RCW 9A.44.130; RCW 9A.44.132.

The failure to register scheme rests on the assumption that any person convicted of a sex offense is dangerous to society. But The Bureau of Justice Statistics has found that sex offenders are less likely to reoffend than people who commit other types of crimes:

In comparison to the rearrest rate for drug offenders (41.2%), larceny-theft offenders (33.9%), and those who commit nonsexual assault (22%), sex offenders are relatively unlikely to be rearrested for another sex crime.

...

Moreover, it appears that an individual is more likely to be the victim of a sex crime at the hands of a convict whose original crime was not a sex crime.

Molly J. Walker Wilson, *The Expansion of Criminal Registries and the Illusion of Control*, 73 La. L. Rev. 509, 521 (2013) (citing Patrick A. Langan & David J. Levin, Bureau of Justice Statistics, U.S. Dep't of Justice, *Recidivism of Prisoners Released in 1994* 9 (2002)).

Studies have shown that people who commit sex offenses as juveniles, in particular, have very low recidivism rates. *See e.g.* Amy E. Halbrook, *Juvenile Pariahs*, 65 Hastings L.J. 1, 13 (2013); L. Chrysanthi, et al, *Net-Widening in Delaware: The Overuse of Registration and Residential Treatment for Youth Who Commit Sex Offenses*, 17 Widener L. Rev. 127, 149 (2011); Richard A. Paladino, *The Adam Walsh Act As Applied to Juveniles: One Size Does Not Fit All*, 40 Hofstra L. Rev. 269, 290-92 (2011). Nonetheless, Washington juveniles adjudicated for most sex offenses are required to register and face criminal prosecution if they do not.<sup>3</sup> RCW 9A.44.130(a)(1); RCW 9A.44.132.

---

<sup>3</sup> Some people adjudicated guilty for sex offenses as juveniles may later move for relief from the registration requirements after a period of time has passed. RCW 9A.44.143. This fact does not alter the analysis regarding whether the sex offender registration scheme is narrowly tailored during the period when they are required to register.



In short, the legislative assumption that all people convicted of sex offenses pose a danger to society is not supported by empirical evidence. Nonetheless, the registration scheme criminalizes failure to register even by people who are not dangerous or at risk of recidivating. The statute is not precise enough to justify the burden it places on the fundamental rights to travel and freedom of movement. *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 514.

The sex offender registration scheme is not narrowly tailored because it fails to consider the “plainly relevant consideration” of whether a person is actually dangerous or likely to commit future sex offenses. *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 911; *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 514.

2. The failure to register statute is not narrowly tailored because there is no “evidentiary nexus” between its purpose and effect.

To qualify as narrowly tailored, “there must be an evidentiary nexus between a law's purpose and effect.” *J.D.*, 86 Wn. App. at 508. The Washington sex offender registration scheme is not narrowly tailored because it lacks an evidentiary nexus: evidence shows that it does not serve its stated goal of protecting the public. *Id.*

A Washington-specific study has found that the sex offender registration requirements have no statistically significant effect on recidivism. Nor do registration requirements increase public safety. Walker Wilson, 73 La. L. Rev. at 523 (*citing* Donna D. Schram & Cheryl

Darling Milloy, Wash. State Inst. for Pub. Pol'y, *Community Notification: A Study of Offender Characteristics and Recidivism* (1995)). Numerous other studies have reached the same conclusion. *Id.* at 523-24; *see also* J.J. Prescott & Jonah E. Rockoff, *Do Sex Offender Registration and Notification Laws Affect Criminal Behavior?*, 54 J.L. & Econ. 161 (2011) (finding that sex offender registration may actually increase recidivism); Amanda Y. Agan, *Sex Offender Registries: Fear Without Function?*, 54 J.L. & Econ. 207 (2011).

The Washington system of sex offender registration is not narrowly tailored because there is no “evidentiary nexus between [its] purpose and effect.” *J.D.*, 86 Wn. App. at 508.

The failure to register statute violates substantive due process on its face because it impedes the rights to travel and freedom of movement without being narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest. *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 508, 514; *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 909-10. Mr. Smith’s failure to register conviction must be reversed. *Id.*

D. The failure to register statute is unconstitutionally overbroad as applied to Mr. Smith because the state does not achieve any compelling interest by burdening his rights to travel and to freedom of movement.

An as-applied challenge contests the application of a statute to the challenging party’s specific situation. *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151

Wn.2d 664, 668-669, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). The reviewing court examines the statute's effect on the individual, using the level of scrutiny appropriate to the nature of the right impacted. *See, e.g., Sylvia Landfield Trust v. City of Los Angeles*, 729 F.3d 1189, 1191 (9th Cir. 2013) (resolving as-applied challenge under the rational basis test). A successful as-applied challenge prohibits future applications in a similar context, but the statute is not totally invalidated. *Id.*

The failure to register statute is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Smith. The state does not have a compelling reason to restrict his rights to travel and to freedom of movement. *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 909.

Mr. Smith's registration obligation stems from a guilty plea to child molestation in the third degree, entered when he was eighteen years old. Ex. 1.<sup>4</sup> His conviction was based on consensual contact with a fourteen-year-old. CP 70. Mr. Smith has not committed any other sex offense since his conviction in 1997. CP 7. At sentencing, the court commended Mr. Smith for caring for so many children, stating that he provides a service to society by doing so. RP 87-88. Through its statements, the court demonstrated that it did not consider Mr. Smith dangerous to children or to anyone else. RP 87-88. The judge wanted to

---

<sup>4</sup> Child molestation in the third degree criminalizes sexual contact with someone between the ages of fourteen and sixteen by a person at least forty-eight months older than the victim. RCW 9A.44.089.

sentence Mr. Smith below the standard range, but did not have a legal mechanism for doing so. RP 88.

Mr. Smith does not pose a danger to society. The registration statute does not serve a compelling interest by limiting his fundamental rights to travel and to freedom of movement. *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 508, 514; *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 909-10. The sex offender registration scheme, including the failure to register statute, is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Smith. *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 508, 514; *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 909-10.

The failure to register statute violates substantive due process as applied to Mr. Smith. *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 508, 514; *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 909-10. His conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed with prejudice. *Id.*

## **II. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR. SMITH.**

### **A. Standard of Review.**

A claim of insufficient evidence admits the truth of the state's evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom. *State v. Caton*, 174 Wn.2d 239, 241, 273 P.3d 980 (2012). A conviction must be overturned for insufficient evidence if no rational trier of fact could have found all of

the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Drake*, 149 Wn. App. 88, 93, 201 P.3d 1093 (2009).

B. No rational trier of fact could have found that Mr. Smith had moved from the address at which he was registered.

The failure to register statute criminalizes knowing failure to comply with the registration requirements of RCW 9A.44.130. RCW 9A.44.132. A registered sex offender must notify the sheriff within three business days of “chang[ing] his or her residence address.” RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a)

Conviction requires proof that the accused person changed his or her residence address. *Drake*, 149 Wn. App. at 95. A person can’t be convicted of failure to register if there is insufficient evidence that he has changed his residence. *Id.*

Here, the state presented insufficient evidence that Mr. Smith had changed his address from the Rose Place address at which he was originally registered. Accordingly, his conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed with prejudice. *Id.*

The registration clerk did not have personal contact with Mr. Smith before changing his registered address from the Rose Place residence to the 9<sup>th</sup> Ave residence. RP 29. No witness testified that Mr. Smith had actually written the letter asking that the address be changed. RP 13-46.

No expert verified whether the signature on the letter actually belonged to Mr. Smith. RP 13-46. In fact, no witness even offered a lay opinion claiming that the signature matched Mr. Smith's signature.<sup>5</sup> RP 13-46.

The property manager of the 9<sup>th</sup> Ave. address testified that he had seen a man at that residence, but he did not identify the man as Mr. Smith. RP 36-46. He also said that he had talked on the phone to a man at the 9<sup>th</sup> Ave. address, but he did not testify that he recognized the voice as Mr. Smith's.<sup>6</sup> RP 36-46.

Finally, the sheriff's investigator did not go to the Rose Place address to see if Mr. Smith still lived there. RP 31-35. Accordingly, no evidence established that he'd actually moved from his registered address on Rose Place.

No rational trier of fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Smith moved from the Rose Place address to the 9<sup>th</sup> Ave. residence, or that he asked to have his registration changed. *Drake*, 149

---

<sup>5</sup> Nonetheless, the court found that Mr. Smith signed the letter. Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law ( p. 1-2), Supp CP. That finding is not supported by the evidence, and must be vacated. *State v. DeVries*, 149 Wn.2d 842, 853, 72 P.3d 748 (2003). An appellate court does not give deference to a trial court's findings of fact regarding documentary evidence. *Lindgren v. Lindgren*, 58 Wn. App. 588, 595, 794 P.2d 526 (1990).

<sup>6</sup> Based solely on the fact that the witness had looked at Mr. Smith during his testimony, the court found that the property manager had personal contact with Mr. Smith at the 9<sup>th</sup> Ave. residence. The court also concluded that the witness spoke with Mr. Smith on the telephone. Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law (p. 2), Supp CP. The court's finding is not supported by the evidence and must be vacated. *DeVries*, 149 Wn.2d at 853.

Wn. App. at 95. Accordingly, the state presented insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Smith of failure to register. *Drake*, 149 Wn. App. at 95. Mr. Smith's conviction must be reversed. *Id.*

C. No rational trier of fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the letter validly changed Mr. Smith's address of registration.

A person who moves from one fixed residence to another within the same county must send notice of the change. To be valid, the offender must send the notice via certified mail with return receipt requested. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a).

The prosecution did not prove that the letter purporting to change Mr. Smith's address from the Rose Place to 9<sup>th</sup> Ave. complied with the statute. The sheriff's office routinely informs registrants that they may change their address either by coming to the office in person or by sending a letter via certified mail with return receipt requested. RP 16, 28. No one testified that the letter purporting to change Mr. Smith's address of registration was sent by certified mail. RP 13-30. Nor did the state present any other evidence that the letter had been sent in accordance with the statute. Ex. 6; RP 13-46.

The state failed to prove that the letter was sent via certified mail with return receipt requested. Ex. 6; RP 25-26. Accordingly, the letter

could not effectuate a valid change of registration address. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a).