NO. 45432-7-II

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON,**

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

CHRISTOPHER ROY SMITH,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**SEAN BRITTAIN
WSBA # 36804
Deputy Prosecutor
for Respondent**

**Hall of Justice
312 SW First
Kelso, WA 98626
(360) 577-3080**

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1) Procedural History

On May 15, 2013, the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney filed an amended information charging Christopher Roy Smith with Failure to Register as a Sex Offender on, about, or between December 4, 2011 and March 8, 2012. CP 3-4. On that same date, the case proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable Michael Evans. RP 7-67. Judge Evans found Mr. Smith guilty as charged and sentenced him to a standard range sentence of 14 months in custody and 36 months of community custody. RP 61; CP 13. Mr. Smith filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 21-34.

2) Statement of Facts

Mr. Smith has previously been convicted of a sex offense that requires him to register as a sex offender. CP 5-6. Mr. Smith had also

twice been convicted of failure to register as sex offender, the most recent conviction occurring in 2006. CP 9. Mr. Smith had registered his address with the Cowlitz County Sheriff's Office ("CCSO") in 2006. RP 27.

On November 10, 2011, Mr. Smith sent a letter to the CCSO that updated his address to 1111 9th Ave, Longview, WA. RP 24-25; CP 40. A sex offender can update his address via a certified return receipt requested letter. RP 16, 28. This information is contained in the registration notification packet, which is read verbatim and initialed by the offender. RP 15-16. Based upon the letter, Kristine Taff, the CCSO support clerk, generated a change of address form for Mr. Smith and updated the CCSO's records. RP 29.

On March 8, 2012, Longview Police Investigator Olga Lozano attempted to verify Mr. Smith's registered address by going to 1111 9th Ave. RP 33. When she arrived to that residence, she observed that it was vacant and a rental sign was in front of the house. RP 34. Ms. Lozano looked through a front window and saw that the house was completely empty. RP 34. Ms. Lozano contacted the rental agency and learned that the last tenants had been evicted in December 2011. RP 34, 41.

Tony Savelli, the property manager for 1111 9th Ave, had been in contact with Mr. Smith at the residence. RP 36-46. Mr. Savelli indicated that he had personally seen Mr. Smith at the house when he was there for maintenance work. RP 39-40. Mr. Savelli had also spoken to Mr. Smith over the phone when he called to discuss rent not being paid. RP 40.

C. ARGUMENT

1) **THE FAILURE TO REGISTER AS A SEX OFFENDER STATUTE IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE THE PRIMARY PUPOSE OF RCW 9A.44.130 DOES IMPEDE MR. SMITH'S RIGHT TO TRAVEL.**

The constitutionality of a statute is reviewed de novo. *City of Spokane v. Neff*, 152 Wn.2d 85, 88, 93 P.3d 158 (2004). A reviewing court “will presume that a statute is constitutional and it will make every presumption in favor of constitutionality where the statute's purpose is to promote safety and welfare, and the statute bears a reasonable and substantial relationship to that purpose.” *State v. Glas*, 147 Wn.2d 410, 422, 54 P.3d 147 (2002); *State v. Lee*, 135 Wn.2d 369, 390, 957 P.2d 741 (1998). “If possible, a statute must be interpreted in a manner that upholds its constitutionality.” *State v. Halstein*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 123, 857 P.2d 270

(1993) (*following Tacoma v. Luvene*, 118 Wn.2d 826, 841, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992), *State v. Dixon*, 78 Wn.2d 796, 804, 479 P.2d 931 (1971)).

“A statute is overbroad if it sweeps constitutionally protected free speech within its prohibitions and there is no way to sever its unconstitutional applications. *Lee*, 135 Wn.2d at 387 (*following State v. Talley*, 122 Wn.2d 192, 210, 858 P.2d 117 (1993), *City of Seattle v. Huff*, 111 Wn.2d 923, 925, 767 P.2d 572 (1989)). Where a court finds that a statute is unconstitutional “as applied,” the statute cannot be applied again under similar circumstances. *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 669, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). If a court finds a statute facially unconstitutional, the statute must be struck down. *Id.* However, if there are circumstances in which a statute can be constitutionally applied, a facial challenge must be rejected. *Id.*

If a fundamental right is at issue, the State must have a compelling interest to justify the statute that limits this right. *State v. Schimelpfenig*, 128 Wn. App. 224, 226, 115 P.3d 338 (2005). The right to travel is a fundamental right and subject to strict scrutiny. *Kent v. Dulles*, 357 U.S. 116, 78 S.Ct. 1113, 2 L.3d.2d 1204 (1958); *City of Seattle v. McConahy*, 86 Wn. App. 557, 571, 937 P.2d 1113, *review denied*, 113 Wn.2d 1018,

948 P.2d 338 (1997). “A state law implicates the right to travel when it *actually* deters such travel and where impeding travel *is its primary objective.*” *State v. Enquist*, 163 Wn. App. 41 (2011), *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1008 (2012) (*emphasis added*).

In the present matter, Mr. Smith’s contention that RCW 9A.44.130 is unconstitutionally overbroad is without merit. Mr. Smith cannot demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that RCW 9A.44.130 is facially invalid or unconstitutional “as applied.” First, despite Mr. Smith’s argument, and as previously recognized by the courts, the State does have a compelling interest that justifies the statute. “The statute was enacted to ‘assist local law enforcement agencies’ efforts to protect their communities by regulating sex offenders.” *Enquist*, 163 Wn. App. at 51 (*quoting* Laws of 1990 ch. 3, § 401). “Impeding travel *has never* been RCW 9A.44.130’s primary goal.” *Id.* (*emphasis added*).

Furthermore, the failure to register as a sex offender statute does not contain any provisions that intend the impediment or restriction of travel. Likewise, the statute does not actually prevent Mr. Smith from traveling. Mr. Smith is not prohibited from moving his residence, nor is he prohibited from moving to a different city, county, or state. “The

statute...permits a registrant to travel or move out of the state for work or educational purposes, if he...timely registers with the new state and notifies the sheriff of the last Washington county in which he registered.”

Id.

Mr. Smith claims that he cannot be away from his primary residence for more than three days. *Petitioner's Brief* at 8. This is an unfounded legal conclusion contrary to the prevailing case law. “A residence ‘is the place where a person lives as either a temporary or permanent dwelling, a place to which one intends to return, as distinguished from a place of temporary sojourn or transient visit.’” *State v. Pickett*, 95 Wn. App. 475, 478, 975 P.2d 584 (1999). Mr. Smith can maintain a residence *and* travel to another location. For example, under the above definition of “residence,” Mr. Smith could travel to Spokane for four weeks as long as he intends on returning to his residence. He is not required to re-register when he goes on vacation. He has no duty to notify law enforcement when he travels. RCW 9A.44.130 requires Mr. Smith to register only when he changes his primary residence or ceases to have a fixed residence. Mr. Smith fails to provide any evidence that RCW 9A.44.130 restricts his ability to travel.

2) THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT MR. SMITH'S CONVICTION FOR FAILURE TO REGISTER AS A SEX OFFENDER.

The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the necessary facts to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). For purposes of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the appellant admits the truth of the State's evidence. *State v. Jones*, 63 Wn. App. 703, 707-08, 821 P.2d 543, *review denied*, 118 Wn.2d 1028, 828 P.2d 563 (1992). All reasonable inferences must be drawn in the State's favor and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. *State v. Joy*, 121 Wn.2d 333, 338-39, 851 P.2d 654 (1993). A reviewing court need not itself be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt, *Jones*, 63 Wn. App. at 708, and must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533, *review denied*, 119 Wn.2d 1011 (1992). In the present matter, when looking at evidence in the light most favorable to the

State, there clearly was sufficient evidence presented to the trier of fact to support Mr. Smith's conviction.

a. The State presented sufficient evidence to show Mr. Smith updated his address.

In regards to the letter, Ms. Taff testified that a sex offender can update his address is by a certified return receipt requested letter. RP 16, 28. This information is contained in the registration notification packet, which is read verbatim and initialed by the offender. RP 15-16. Based upon the letter, Ms. Taff generated a change of address form for Mr. Smith and updated the CCSO's records. RP 29.

A rational trier of fact could conclude that Ms. Taff followed the CCSO's policies and procedures when updating Mr. Smith's address. Ms. Taff testified that on November 10, 2011, she received a letter from Mr. Smith updating his address. RP 25. As stated above, an address update via mail can only be done through a certified return receipt requested letter. Ms. Taff updated Mr. Smith's address. It is unmistakable, based upon Ms. Taff's actions, that the court properly found that the letter received from Mr. Smith was a certified return receipt requested letter. CP 40.

The trial court also properly concluded that Mr. Smith was the individual who sent the letter. RP 57-58; CP 41. The rules of evidence permit a court to compare the writing in question with a specimen that has previously been authenticated to establish identity. ER 901(b)(3).

Furthermore:

It was the function of the court to decide the factual question whether or not the appellant had written his questioned document. In make the determination, it was proper for the court, as the trier of the facts, without the aid of an expert witness to make a comparison of the disputed writing with a standard produced in court.

Mitchell v. Mitchell, 24 Wn.2d 701, 704, 166 P.2d 938 (1946).

The State provided the court with Exhibits 4 and 5, Mr. Smith's judgment and sentences from his two previous convictions. The trial court looked at Mr. Smith's signatures on those documents and compared them with Exhibit 6, Mr. Smith's letter, and Exhibit 3, Mr. Smith's registration form. RP 57-58. The trial court noted the unique characteristics of Mr. Smith's signature, especially the "S." RP 58. The courts findings and conclusions in regards to the letter are supported by sufficient evidence.

b. The State presented sufficient evidence that Mr. Smith failed to comply with RCW 9A.44.130.

“An offender’s residential status is not an element of the crime of failure to register.” *State v. Peterson*, 168 Wn.2d 763, 774, 230 P.3d 588 (2010). “There is only one method by which an offender fails to register, and that is if he moves from his residence without notice.” *Id.* at 770. Mr. Smith argues that the State did not prove that Mr. Smith actually resided at 1111 9th Ave or that he actually moved from his previously registered address. As stated above, Mr. Smith updated his address with the CCSO. When Mr. Smith was evicted from 1111 9th Ave in December 2011, he was required to again notify the CCSO of a new address. As Ms. Taff testified, this did not occur until May 2012.

Other than the letter, the State presented evidence that established that Mr. Smith resided at 1111 9th Ave. Mr. Savelli testified that he personally observed Mr. Smith at 1111 9th Ave. When asked whether he had ever seen and spoken Mr. Smith before, Mr. Savelli indicated that he had. RP 39. Mr. Savelli stated “Yes. I seen him on a few occasions. I – we had maintenance work orders to do at the property, so when we

showed up, we seen the gentlemen there inside the property then.” RP 40. Mr. Savelli testified that he would regularly call the residence and remind the tenants that they had to pay their rent. During these phone calls, Mr. Savelli testified that Mr. Smith would answer the phone. RP 40.

The trial court noted that when Mr. Savelli was testifying to this information, he was looking at Mr. Smith. RP 59. Although this is not a conventional method of identification, Mr. Savelli is still identifying Mr. Smith as the individual he would see when he was at the residence.

Mr. Savelli testified that Mr. Smith and Ms. Weatherly were evicted from the residence at the end of December, 2011. RP 41. Ms. Lozano testified that on March 8, 2012, she went to 1111 9th Ave to verify Mr. Smith’s address. RP 33. When she arrived to that residence, she observed that it was vacant and a rental sign was in front of the house. RP 34. Ms. Lozano looked through a front window and saw that the house was completely empty. RP 34.

Finally, if Mr. Smith had remained residing at his previously registered address, he would still have been in violation of the statute because he would not have been residing at his registered address. It is his

duty to properly inform the CCSO where he is residing. If he fails to do so, he's in violation of RCW 9A.44.130.